



anzmac
AUSTRALIAN & NEW ZEALAND MARKETING ACADEMY

Australian & New Zealand Marketing Academy

CONSTITUTION

December 2025

CONTACTS

For the current Officers of the Australian and New Zealand Marketing Academy Incorporated, see anzmac.org/executive-committee.

CONTENTS

<i>PART 1: INCORPORATION PROVISIONS AND OBJECTS</i>	<i>PAGE</i>
[1] Name of Association	5
[2] Short Title	5
[3] Incorporation Provisions	5
[4] Interpretations	5
[5] Objects and Purposes of the Academy	6
[6] Income and Property of the Academy	8
[7] Academy's Secretariat	8
[8] Common Seal	8
[9] Custody and Inspection of Books, Records, Registers	9
<i>PART 2. ACADEMY MEMBERSHIP</i>	
[10] Membership of the Academy	9
[11] Member's Liability	13
[12] Membership Register	14
[13] Fees and Subscriptions	14
[14] Disciplining of Members	15

[15] Right of Appeal of Disciplined Member	16
[16] Internal Disputes Between Members	16

PART 3. OFFICERS AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

[17] Management by an Executive Committee	17
[18] Office Bearers and Executive Committee Members	19
[19] Election or Appointment of Officers	21
[20] Casual Vacancies	22
[21] Functions of Office Bearers	23
[22] Removal of Executive Committee Member	24
[23] Meetings of the Executive Committee	25
[24] Voting and Decisions	26

PART 4. GENERAL MEETINGS

[25] Annual General Meetings	26
[26] Special Business at Annual General Meetings	27
[27] Notice of Annual General Meetings	27
[28] Quorum, Chairperson, Voting at Annual General Meetings	27
[29] General Meeting Procedures	28
[30] Convening Special General Meetings	29
[31] Notice Requirements for General Meetings	30
[32] Special Resolution	31
[33] Voting at Special General Meetings	31
[34] Presiding Member at General Meetings	31

PART 5. FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND AUDITING

[35] Keeping of Accounts	32
[36] Banking and Finance	32
[37] Annual Financial Statements	33
[38] Appointment of Auditor	34
[39] Audit of Accounts	34

PART 6. OTHER PROVISIONS

[40] Amendments to the Constitution	35
[41] Service of Notices	35
[42] Transitional Provisions and Dissolution Clause	36

Part 1. Incorporation Provisions and Objects

1. NAME OF THE ASSOCIATION

The name of the Association is:

Australian and New Zealand Marketing Academy Incorporated.

2. SHORT TITLE

A reference to ANZMAC Incorporated shall be deemed to be a reference to the Academy.

3. INCORPORATION PROVISIONS

The Academy is incorporated in New South Wales under the Associations Incorporation Act 1994 ("the Act") and is a non-profit, non-shareholder corporation with limited liability.

4. INTERPRETATIONS

1. "Association" means the Australian and New Zealand Marketing Academy Incorporated and a reference to the "Academy" shall mean a reference to this Association.

"Constitution" means the published body of rules which give effect and expression to the objects and purposes of the Academy including any constitutional amendments approved by special resolution of the members of the Academy.

"Executive Committee" means the committee of office bearers and Executive Committee members elected or appointed to control and manage the business and affairs of the Academy.

"Executive Committee Member" means a member of the Academy elected or appointed to the Executive Committee.

"Membership" means membership of the Academy in any category of membership defined in Part 2 of the Constitution.

"Secretariat" means:

- a. the Academy's office located at such place (or places), physical or virtual, as the Executive Committee shall from time to time determine; and
- b. such functions, duties and powers which are assigned to Academy staff employed in the Secretariat.

“Secretary” means:

- a. the person holding office under this Constitution as Secretary of the Academy; and
- b. the Public Officer of the Academy for the purposes of the Act and Regulation unless a person other than the Secretary is appointed to that position by the Executive Committee.

“Special General Meeting” means a general meeting of the Academy other than an annual general meeting.

2. In this Constitution:

- a. A reference to a function includes a reference to a power, authority and duty; and
- b. A reference to the exercise of a function includes, if the function is a duty, a reference to the performance of the duty.
- c. The provisions of the Interpretation Act 1987 apply to and in respect of this Constitution in the same manner as those provisions would so apply if this Constitution was an instrument made under that Act.

3. Communication:

It is an objective of the Association to maximise the use of electronic communication. Consequently terms such as “pre-paid post”, “in writing” and “written” will include information distributed or received electronically including electronic mail, the use of web sites or other web-based services.

5. OBJECTS AND PURPOSES OF THE ACADEMY

1. The purpose of the Academy shall be to provide an organisation for educators and practitioners interested in marketing theory and research. More specifically, the Academy has the purpose to:
 - a. Provide an Australian/New Zealand network in the field of research and education in marketing.
 - b. Provide a forum for research presentations and evaluations.
 - c. Provide publication outlets for high quality research (for example, with the Australasian Marketing Journal and the annual conference proceedings that underwent double blind peer review and are accepted for publication as extended abstract).
 - d. Support early career researchers and educators in the field of marketing.
 - e. Foster a broad variety of methodological and theoretical approaches covering a wide range of research issues in marketing with real-world implications (for example, for practitioners, governments and policy

- makers); and encourage scholarly debate and cross-fertilisation between approaches.
- f. Recognise contributions to the marketing discipline with awards and accolades (for example, merit-based awarding process at the annual conference to recognise members' achievements in research, education and impact, across different career stages such as higher degrees students, early-career, mid-career, distinguished).
 - g. To carry out any activity which the Academy considers in any way to promote any or all the purposes as set out above.
 - h. Where relevant, oversee strategic partnerships with relevant stakeholders, such as marketing practice and industry connections, policy makers, local communities and others.
2. In addition to the basic objects of the Academy, the objects and purposes of the Academy shall be deemed to include:
- a. The purchase, taking on in lease or in exchange, and the hiring or otherwise acquiring any real or personal property that may be deemed to be necessary or convenient for any of the objects or purposes of the Academy.
 - b. The establishment of the Academy's Secretariat to assist the Executive Committee in advancing the Academy's objectives.
 - c. The accepting of any gift, whether subject to a special trust or not, for any one or more of the purposes of the Academy.
 - d. The taking of such steps from time to time as the Executive Committee or the members in general meeting may deem expedient for the purpose of procuring contributions to the funds of the Academy, whether by way of donations, subscriptions or otherwise.
 - e. The recording, printing and publishing of such material as the Executive Committee or the members in general meeting may think desirable for the promotion of the objects and purposes of the Academy.
 - f. The borrowing and raising of money in such manner and on such terms as the Executive Committee may think fit or as may be approved or directed by resolution passed at a general meeting.
 - g. The investment of any moneys of the Academy not immediately required for any of its objects or purposes, in such manner as the Executive Committee may from time to time determine or as may be approved or directed by resolution passed at a general meeting.
 - h. The doing of all such other lawful things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the basic objects of the Academy or of any of the further objects and purposes specified in the foregoing provisions of this Sub-clause.

6. INCOME AND PROPERTY OF THE ACADEMY

1. The funds of the Academy are to be derived from joining fees and annual subscriptions of members, donations and, subject to any resolution passed by the Academy in a general meeting, such other sources as the Executive Committee determines.
2. The income and property of the Academy, however derived, shall be applied solely towards the promotion of the objects and purposes of the Academy.
3. No member of the Executive Committee should be appointed to salaried and/or contracted office of the Academy, and to work that is payable by way of salary, fees or allowances. However, this does not include:
 - a. Reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses incurred by an Executive Committee member in the performance of their duty where the amount payable does not exceed an amount approved by the Executive Committee; or
 - b. Stipends resulting from substantial, ongoing services conducted for a minimum of three calendar years, in addition to office undertaken as a member of the Executive Committee (for example, serving as Editor in Chief of the Academy's journal).

7. ACADEMY'S SECRETARIAT

An office of the Academy (the Secretariat) will be located at such place (or places), physical or virtual, as the Executive Committee shall from time to time determine. Where necessary, the Secretariat will assist the Executive Committee with membership and secretarial requirements and provide storage facilities for the Academy's records, data and registers and generally promote the objects of the Academy in the community.

8. COMMON SEAL

1. The Academy shall have a common seal which shall remain in the safe custody of the Executive Committee.
2. The common seal shall not be affixed to any instrument except by the authority and resolution of the Executive Committee and any affixing of the common seal shall be attested by the signatures of two members of the Executive Committee or one member of the Executive Committee and a person appointed by the Executive Committee for that purpose.

9. CUSTODY AND INSPECTION OF BOOKS, RECORDS, REGISTERS

The Secretariat will provide safe custody for the Academy's records, data and registers subject to the requirements of the Secretary and Treasurer in fulfilling the duties of office conferred upon them by the Constitution. Upon written request and at reasonable notice, any member of the Academy may inspect the records, data and registers of the Academy, free of charge. These can include:

- i Physical and/or digital copies of the Australasian Marketing Journal;
- ii Archives of past conference proceedings;
- iii Archives of files and electronic information concerning the operations of the Academy (last five years); or
- iv Digital records, data and registers of past and current memberships (individual and institutional) (last five years).

Part 2. Academy Membership

10. MEMBERSHIP OF THE ACADEMY

1. Membership of the Academy will be available in the following membership categories by application to the Academy: Membership, Distinguished Membership (Fellow of the Academy), Associate Membership and Institutional Membership. In exceptional circumstances the Academy may confer Life Membership or Honorary Membership in accordance with the protocols established hereunder.
2. Membership:
 - a. Membership shall be available to those persons who are educators and/or researchers in marketing or related disciplines in universities and colleges, or consultants or employees of organisations with a significant involvement in marketing education, training or practice; and to such other persons as may, in the opinion of the Executive Committee from time to time, have a substantial interest in the advancement of scholarship in those disciplines.
 - b. Nomination for membership shall be made in accordance with the provisions of Clause 10(8) of the Constitution.
 - c. Once a nomination has been approved by the Executive Committee or officer of the Academy, and the required membership fee (whether in full or pro-rata) has been paid by the nominee, that person's name shall be entered on the Membership Registrar.
 - d. Membership may be denoted where appropriate by the personal use of the letters MANZMAC on business card or letterhead.

- e. Membership shall be retained by payment of the annual subscription and shall be deemed to have lapsed if the subscription is not paid by 31 March of the calendar year to which it relates (or any extension of time granted in writing).
3. Fellow of the Academy:
- a. The Academy shall encourage members to aspire to recognition as a Fellow of the Academy.
 - b. Fellowships shall be conferred on nominated members who, in the opinion of the Executive Committee and the Fellows, have demonstrated outstanding contributions to the Academy and also demonstrated eminence in the Marketing discipline through research, scholarship, education and leadership.
 - c. Any member of the Academy may nominate another member to become a Fellow. Nominations will be considered by a selection committee consisting of equal representation from the Executive Committee and the Fellows and chaired by the Convenor of the Fellows. The Convenor will make recommendations to the President of the Academy, and those recommendations that are approved shall be conferred at an annual general meeting of the Academy.
 - d. The conferring of a Fellowship may be denoted by the personal use of the title, Fellow of ANZMAC, or FANZMAC, on business cards or letterheads.
 - e. For a Fellowship to be retained the Fellow must be a paid-up member of the Academy. When a Fellow retires from active employment, the person may be elected as an Honorary Fellow by the Fellows. Honorary Fellows are not required to maintain paid membership of the Academy.
 - f. Fellows of the Academy shall nominate a Convenor of Fellows, as a non-voting ex-officio member of the Executive Committee (see Part 3).
4. Associate Membership:
- a. Associate membership shall be available to post-graduate or honours students (who are not employed full-time by an academic institution) enrolled in full or part-time courses in marketing education or similar areas and to other persons having an interest in marketing education who do not qualify for membership as prescribed in Clause 10 (2)(a).
 - b. Nomination procedures for Associate membership are as prescribed in Clause 10(8) of the Constitution.
 - c. Associate members shall have the same rights and privileges as members with the exception that they shall not be entitled to be elected as officers of the Academy or to vote for the election of officers at annual general meetings of the Academy.
 - d. Membership shall be retained by payment of the annual subscription and shall be deemed to have lapsed if the subscription is not paid by 31 March of the calendar year to which it relates (or any extension of time granted in writing).

5. Institutional Membership:

- a. The Executive can decide that institutional membership be offered to organisations with an interest in furthering the objectives of the Academy.
- b. These organisations and institutions shall be either:
 - i. Departments, centres, faculties, schools and institutes of universities and colleges or sections thereof, which are geographically separate.
 - ii. Associations or companies or divisions thereof.
 - iii. Government departments, authorities or instrumentalities.
- c.
 - i. Except for the provisions of Sub-clause (5) (c) (ii), (iii) and (iv) below, Institutional Members shall have the same rights and privileges as Members.
 - ii. The Executive Committee may resolve that specified special privileges be reserved for Institutional Members.
 - iii. Institutional Members or their representatives shall not be entitled to be elected as officers of the Academy unless such individuals are also members on an individual basis.
 - iv. Each Institutional Member may nominate one representative who shall be a member of the Academy, to vote on its behalf at general meetings of the Academy but that representative shall not vote in any other membership capacity.
- d. The provisions of Clause 10(8) shall apply in respect to nominations for Institutional Membership.
- e. Membership shall be retained by payment of the annual subscription and shall be deemed to have lapsed if the subscription is not paid by 31 March of the calendar year to which it relates (or any extension of time granted in writing).

6. Honorary Membership and Retired Membership:

- a. Honorary membership shall be available for distinguished visitors to Australia and New Zealand, being persons whose services to the advancement of scholarship in Marketing and related disciplines, in the opinion of the Executive Committee, merit this award of membership.
- b. Retired Membership shall be available to marketing educators and researchers who have ceased fulltime or part-time employment and/or retired staff who undertake sessional or short-term contract teaching
- c. Nomination for Honorary Membership or Retired Membership shall be made in accordance with the provisions of Clause 8(a) and (b), respectively, of this Constitution (Part 2).
- d. Once a nomination has been approved by the Executive Committee or officer of the Academy, and the required membership fee (whether in full, pro-rata or waived) has been received, Honorary Membership or Retired Membership shall be conferred by the Executive Committee and that person's name shall be entered on the Membership Register.
- e. Honorary Membership and Retired Membership shall be conferred by the Executive Committee for periods not exceeding one year at a time.
- f. Honorary Members and Retired Members shall have the same rights and privileges as members during their period of membership.

- g. Retired Members who return to fulltime or part-time employment will revert to regular membership.
- h. Honorary Membership and Retired Membership may be denoted where appropriate by the personal use of the title ANZMAC Honorary (HANZMAC) or ANZMAC Retired (RANZMAC) on business cards or letterhead

7. Membership Letter:

A statement of membership may be requested at any time by a member, by contacting the Secretary via written electronic communication.

8. Application Procedures:

- a. Individual membership of the Academy is automatically conferred for participants of the annual ANZMAC conference, by paying the standard registration fee (excluding student registrations, who obtain associate membership instead). The individual membership thus commences on the first day of the conference, and expires the last day preceding the next year's conference.
- b. Individual membership of the Academy may also be obtained electronically via the ANZMAC website, outside of conference participation. Once the applicable individual membership fee is fully paid, membership will be conferred for the current calendar year only (expiring the last day preceding the current year's conference), except if application is made from October onwards, when expiry may be extended to the following year (expiring the last day preceding the next year's conference), at the discretion of the Treasurer.
- c. Higher Degree by Research students may apply for Associate membership of the Academy, obtained electronically via the ANZMAC website, outside of conference participation; the membership year will be the same as for individual membership. Associate membership is also conferred by paying a student registration fee for the conference, with membership commencing on the first day of the conference and expiring the last day preceding the next year's conference.
- d. Institutions may make application for Institutional Membership directly to the Treasurer at any time, via written electronic communication.
- e. Should the applicable membership fee remain unpaid after a period of forty-five days following notification in writing to the intending member, the Academy shall deem that the application was withdrawn.

9. Cessation of Membership:

A person ceases to be a member of the Academy if the person:

- a. Dies; or
- b. Resigns membership; or
- c. Is expelled from the Academy; or
- d. Fails to pay the applicable membership fee by the required date (within forty-five days following notification in writing to the intending member).

10. Membership Entitlements not Transferable

A right, privilege or obligation which a person has by reason of being a member of the Academy:

- a. Is not capable of being transferred or transmitted to another person; and
- b. Terminates on cessation of the person's membership.

11. Resignation of Membership

- a. A member of the Academy is not entitled to resign that membership except in accordance with this rule.
- b. A member of the Academy who has paid all amounts payable by the member of the Academy in respect of the member's membership may resign from membership of the Academy by first giving to the Secretariat written notice of at least one month (or such other period as the Executive Committee may determine) of the member's intention to resign and, on the expiration of the period of notice, the member ceases to be a member.
- c. If a member of the Academy ceases to be a member under Clause 11(b), and in every other case where a member ceases to hold membership, the Secretariat must make an appropriate entry in the register of members recording the date on which the member ceased to be a member.

11. MEMBER'S LIABILITY

The liability of a member of the Academy to contribute towards the payment of the debts and liabilities of the Academy or the costs, charges and expenses of the winding up of the Academy is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid by the member in respect of membership of the Academy at the relevant time.

12. MEMBERSHIP REGISTER

1. The Secretariat in consultation with the Secretary shall establish and maintain a register of members of the Academy specifying the professional and contact details of each person who is a member of the Academy together with the date or dates upon which the person became a member of a membership category.
2. The Membership Register shall be kept in safe custody of the Academy's Secretariat and must be open for inspection, by a member of the Academy during business hours, free of charge.
3. The Academy's online membership system keeps a record of members, their institutions, email addresses and membership payments. This online membership system constitutes the Register of current Members and shall be kept secure and up to date by the Academy, with members records kept for at least five years.
4. Members can access their individual record at any time (via the ANZMAC website, using password protected access) to see, change and delete their contact details.

13. FEES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS

1. Subject to the approval of the Academy in annual general meeting, the Executive Committee shall determine: (a) a membership joining fee, (b) annual membership subscriptions appropriate to the category of membership, (c) in the category of Distinguished Membership, an additional (once only) administration fee for admittance of the member as a Fellow of the Academy.
2. A person (including institution, corporation or government instrumentality) must, prior to admission to membership, pay to the Academy the joining fee and membership subscription determined by the Executive Committee.
3. Annual membership subscriptions shall be due and payable on 1 January each year. An appropriate membership subscription shall be payable pro rata for a new member at the discretion of the Executive Committee when new membership commences more than three months after the annual renewal date.

14. DISCIPLINING OF MEMBERS

1. A complaint may be made in writing by any member of the Academy that some other member of the Academy:
 - a. Has persistently refused or neglected to comply with a provision or provisions of the Constitution rules; or
 - b. Has persistently and wilfully acted in a manner prejudicial to the interests of the Academy; or
 - c. Has brought the good name of the Academy into disrepute by the conduct of the member due to lacking in honesty, integrity or fairness in all dealings, both internally and externally to the Academy. The disrepute can origin from, but is not excluded to:
 - i) A member's unlawful conduct;
 - ii) Neglecting and/or revealing substantial shortcomings in work ethics expected for the relevant professional field (marketing academia);
 - iii) Irresponsible behaviour and/or demeanour toward any stakeholders of the Academy and the environment (e.g., vilification, misogyny, sexual harassment, verbal or physical abuse); and/or
 - iv) Breaching confidentiality agreements and/or other agreements wilfully entered into, such as code of conduct expectations opted into upon registering for the Academy's events.
2. On receiving the complaint the Executive Committee shall:
 - a. Communicate the substance of the complaint in writing to the member and invite the member to make a submission to the Executive Committee either orally or in writing or both within thirty days of the member receiving the complaint.
 - b. Where the complaint involves allegations of unlawful conduct, advise the complainant to report the incident to the police and, where applicable, request a copy of the police report to be provided to the Academy.
 - c. Convene a meeting of the Executive Committee where the member who is the subject of the complaint may make a submission either personally and or through representation
3. The Executive Committee may, by resolution, expel the member from the Academy or suspend the member from membership of the Academy if, after considering the complaint and any submissions made in connection with the complaint, it is satisfied that the facts alleged in the complaint have been proved.
4. If the Executive Committee expels or suspends a member, the Secretariat must, within seven days after the action is taken, cause written notice to be given to the member of the action taken and the reasons given by the Executive Committee for having taken that action and inform the member of the member's right of appeal.

5. The expulsion or suspension does not take effect:
 - a. Until the expiration of the period within which the member is entitled to appeal against the resolution concerned; or
 - b. If within that period the member exercises the right of appeal, unless and until the Academy confirms the resolution whichever is the later.

15. RIGHT OF APPEAL OF DISCIPLINED MEMBER

1. A member may appeal to the Academy in general meeting against a resolution of the Executive Committee under Clause 14, within seven days after notice of the resolution is served on the member, by lodging with the Secretariat a notice to that effect.
2. The notice may, but need not, be accompanied by a statement of the grounds on which the member intends to rely for the purposes of the appeal.
3. On receipt of a notice from a member under Sub-clause (1), the Secretariat shall notify the Executive Committee which is to convene a general meeting of the Academy to be held within twenty-eight days after the date on which the Secretariat received the notice.
4. At a general meeting of the Academy convened under Sub-clause (3):
 - a. The Executive Committee and the member shall be given the opportunity to state their respective cases orally or in writing, or both; and
 - b. The members present are to vote by secret ballot on the question of whether the resolution should be confirmed or revoked.
5. If at a general meeting the Academy passes a resolution in favour of the confirmation of the resolution, the resolution is confirmed.

16. INTERNAL DISPUTES BETWEEN MEMBERS

If a dispute arises out of or in relation to this Constitution between Members of the Academy or Members and the Academy (“Dispute”), no party to the Dispute (“Disputant”) will start arbitration or court proceedings (except proceedings seeking interlocutory relief) unless they have first complied with the following:

1. A party claiming that a Dispute has arisen must notify each other Disputant in writing giving details of the Dispute and its proposal for a resolution.

2. For 14 days after a notice is given (“Initial Period”), each Disputant must use all reasonable endeavours to resolve the Dispute and an authorised representative of each Disputant will meet within the first seven days of that period with that aim.
3. If the Dispute remains unresolved at the end of the Initial Period, it must be referred for mediation at the request of any Disputant to:
 - a. A person agreed on by the Disputants; or
 - b. If agreement is not reached within seven days of the end of the Initial Period, a mediator nominated by the Director of the Community Justice Centres (as defined under the Community Justice Centres Act 1983 (NSW)).
 - c. The role of any mediator is to assist in negotiating a resolution of the Dispute. A mediator may not make a decision that is binding on a Disputant unless that Disputant has agreed to this in writing.
 - d. Unless otherwise agreed between the Disputants, the mediation will take place at a date and time agreed, and the Disputants will be entitled to legal representation.
 - e. Each Disputant will use all reasonable endeavours to resolve the Dispute through mediation as soon as is practical including, but not limited to, providing the mediator with all information relevant to the Dispute.
 - f. Any information or documents disclosed by a Disputant under this clause must be kept confidential and may not be used except to attempt to resolve the Dispute.
4. Each Disputant must bear its own costs of complying with this process and the Disputants must bear equally the mediator’s costs.
5. If the Dispute is still not resolved within twenty-one days of appointment of the mediator, a Disputant that has complied with this process may terminate the dispute resolution process by giving notice to each other Disputant.

Part 3. Officers and Executive Committee

17. MANAGEMENT BY AN EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

1. The affairs of the Academy shall be managed by the Executive Committee.
2. The Executive Committee:
 - a. Shall control and manage the business and affairs of the Academy;
 - b. May, subject to the Constitution and the Act, exercise all such powers and functions as may be exercised by the Academy, other than those powers and functions that are required by the Constitution to be exercised by Annual

- General Meetings of members of the Academy, and may appoint members of the Academy by co-option to sub-committees of the Executive Committee.
- c. Has power to perform all such acts and do all such things as appear to the Executive Committee to be necessary or desirable for the proper management of the affairs of the Academy.
3. The quorum and procedures of any sub-committee appointed by the Executive Committee, or established under the Constitution of the Academy, shall be the same as for the Executive Committee.
 4. The Executive Committee may, by instrument in writing, delegate to:
 - a. One or more sub-committees (consisting of such member or members of the Academy as the Executive Committee thinks fit) the exercise of such of the functions of the Executive Committee as are specified in the instrument, other than:
 - i. This power of delegation; and
 - ii. A function which is a duty imposed on the Executive Committee by the Act or by any other law.
 - b. A function the exercise of which has been delegated to sub-committee under this rule may, while the delegation remains unrevoked, be exercised from time to time by the sub-committee in accordance with the terms of the delegation. Example of key functions to be delegated to sub-committee include:
 - i. Communication with members about the Academy, its activities and events (e.g., annual conference) via traditional and digital media including regular electronic newsletters/emails, the Academy's website and social media accounts (*Communications Sub-Committee*);
 - ii. Management of nominations and expressions of interest for awards and accolades attached to the Academy, the related selection process and outcomes thereof (*Awards Sub-Committee*);
 - iii. Determining the general strategic direction of the Academy, especially concerning the key areas of marketing research and education (*Research Sub-Committee* and *Education Sub-Committee*);
 - iv. Upholding of statements disclosure, policies and common practice concerning members' diversity, equality and inclusion) (*Diversity, Equality and Inclusion Sub-Committee*);
 - v. Upholding of collaborations with the industry and other bodies external to the Academy (national or transnational) and representing avenues for relevant strategic partnerships (*Strategic engagement sub-committee*);
 - vi. Offering ongoing advocacy and representation for HDR students and other critical career stages (*HDR and ECR sub-committee*); and
 - vii. Coordinating efforts for the organisation of critical aspects of the annual conference (*Conference sub-committee*).

- c. The Executive Committee shall confirm functions the exercise of which will be delegated to sub-committee under this rule at the first meeting following the Annual General Meeting.
 - d. Individual members of Executive Committee shall nominate their willingness to serve on functions the exercise of which will be delegated to sub-committee under this rule at the first meeting following the Annual General Meeting. One of the nominees shall also be appointed to serve as Chair of the sub-committee.
 - e. A delegation under this section may be made subject to such conditions or limitations as to the exercise of any function, or as to time or circumstances, as may be specified in the instrument of delegation.
 - f. Despite any delegation under this rule, the Executive Committee may continue to exercise any function delegated.
 - g. Any act or thing done or suffered by a sub-committee acting in the exercise of a delegation under this rule has the same force and effect as it would have if it had been done or suffered by the Executive Committee.
 - h. The Executive Committee may, by instrument in writing, revoke wholly or in part any delegation under this rule.
 - i. A sub-committee may meet and adjourn as it thinks proper.
5. The Executive Committee shall have the power to appoint, on a full or parttime basis, any person or body as a consultant, administrator or employee of the Academy to undertake functions specifically delegated to him, her or it by the Executive Committee.

18. OFFICE BEARERS AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEMBERS

1. The Executive Committee of the Academy shall normally comprise no less than ten and no more than twelve members, each from different institutions from Australia and New Zealand. The Executive Committee shall also normally include at least two elected Indigenous Representative positions, with one member representing the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples of Australia; and one member representing Māori. Indigenous representatives shall hold the same rights, powers and voting privileges as all other Executive members. These representatives will be elected by and from Indigenous members to ensure that Indigenous perspectives are actively integrated into Executive Committee deliberations and decisions. Only ANZMAC members who identify as Aboriginal, Torres Strait Islander and/or Māori will be eligible for election to these positions.
2. The officers of the Academy shall be the:
 - a. President
 - b. Vice-President
 - c. Secretary
 - d. Treasurer
 - e. Executive Committee Members.

3. The Executive Committee will elect the President, Vice-President, Secretary and Treasurer at their first meeting following the Annual General Meeting.
4. A person may occupy the position of President for no more than three consecutive years, having previously served as a member of Executive Committee for at least two years, and preferably having held an office of the Academy for at least one year.
5. Each member of the Executive Committee is, subject to the Constitution and Clause 18(4), eligible for re-election to the Executive Committee and to any elected position within the Executive Committee for a maximum of six consecutive years.
6. The Executive may recommend by general business at the Annual General Meeting a change in the size of the Executive Committee within the bounds specified in Clause 18 (1).
7. The current Convenor of Fellows will be invited to attend Executive Committee meetings with speaking rights but no voting rights.
8. Unless they are concurrently holding a position as member of the Executive Committee, the current Editor(s)-in-Chief of the Australasian Marketing Journal (AMJ) will be invited to attend Executive Committee meetings with speaking rights but no voting rights.
9. The current Chair of ANZMAC DocCom Leadership Council or equivalent group representing HDR students will be invited to attend Executive Committee meetings with speaking rights but no voting rights.
10. The chairs of the annual conference from the host university will be invited to attend Executive Committee meetings with speaking rights but no voting rights.
11. To ensure continuity in the management of the Academy's affairs, an outgoing officer of the Academy (that is, a President, Vice President, Secretary, or Treasurer) may be invited to attend subsequent Executive Committee meetings, with speaking rights but not voting rights, and up to but not later than the succeeding Annual General Meeting of the Academy.
12. An outgoing officer of the Academy may be from the same institution as current Executive Committee members, if elected after the outgoing officer has completed their term.
13. All members of the Academy specified in Clauses 18.7, 18.8, 18.9, 18.10, 18.11 and 18.12 are exempt from quorum calculations under Clause 23(2).

19. ELECTION /APPOINTMENT OF OFFICERS OF THE ACADEMY

1. All officers of the Academy (apart from Indigenous Representatives) shall be elected by the members of the Academy except where a casual vacancy occurs and the provisions of Clause 20 (2) are invoked.
 - a. Selection of Indigenous Representatives will be undertaken through a guided nomination process where Indigenous members will meet to discuss representation needs, and who might best represent the group, with the final decision made through consensus. If consensus cannot be reached, they would then move to a simple confirmation vote.
 - b. Where an Indigenous member is elected through the general process, this shall be recognised as contributing to the overall diversity of the Executive Committee but shall not reduce the requirement for the designated Indigenous Representative positions described in Clause 18.1. However, this specific scenario voids Clause 19.1.b.
2. Nominations of candidates for election as officers of the Academy shall:
 - a. Be called by the Secretary no later than forty-five days before the next annual general meeting;
 - b. Close no later than thirty days before that annual general meeting;
 - c. Must be submitted in writing (for example, via email) to the Secretary using an electronic nomination form (or equivalent) as deemed appropriate by the Executive Committee.
 - d. Nominees need to be a current, individual member of ANZMAC.
3. If the number of nominations exceeds the number of vacancies to be filled, an electronic ballot of members shall be held.
4. Before determining and declaring the composition of the Executive Committee duly elected, the Executive Committee shall be constituted, in so far as it is possible:
 - a. With representation throughout Australia and New Zealand.
 - b. With regard for regional representation, as defined in Clause 4(c) hereunder.
 - c. The Executive Committee shall be elected by reference to the following regional representation:
 - i. Australia: A minimum of three members
 - ii. New Zealand: A minimum of three members.
5. In the event of a ballot being required:
 - a. The Secretariat shall distribute the ballots to members not less than twenty-one days before the next annual general meeting;

- b. The Executive Committee shall appoint one of its officers, not being a candidate for election, to be Returning Officer for that ballot;
 - c. Members shall be directed to mark the names of those candidates they wish to elect, up to the number of officers to be filled;
 - d. Ballot votes received by the Returning Officer no later than one day before the annual general meeting shall be counted in determining the election;
 - e. The Returning Officer shall notify the Secretary for reporting to the Executive Committee the numbers of votes cast for each candidate and shall, for the number of offices to be filled by election, declare elected those candidates who have received the greatest number of votes and who fulfil the residential requirements of Clause 19(4).
 - f. In the event of a tie, a second ballot including only the tied nominees will be requested of current members of the Executive Committee, and will take place prior to the next Annual General Meeting.
6. For the purposes of any ballot for election, any candidate may supply to the Secretary for distribution with the ballots a brief statement not exceeding one-hundred words of that candidate's curriculum vitae.
 7. The Chairperson at the annual general meeting shall declare to the meeting the names of the persons elected to be officers of the Academy.
 8. Persons elected to be officers of the Academy shall hold office for a period of three years and then retire from membership of the Executive Committee, but shall be eligible for re-election for a further three-year consecutive period.
 9. A member deemed ineligible for re-election to the Executive Committee due to exceeding the time limit specified under Sub-clause 8 may stand again for election after one year.
 10. Every member of the Executive Committee or other officer of the Academy shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Academy against all losses or liabilities which may be sustained or incurred in or about the lawful execution of their duties including any liability incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings in which judgement is given in favour of the Executive Committee Member or officer. The Academy shall, at all times, maintain an indemnity insurance policy against any such liability.

20. CASUAL VACANCIES

1. For the purpose of these rules, a casual vacancy in the office of a member of the Executive Committee occurs if the member:
 - a. Dies; or
 - b. Ceases to be a member of the Academy; or

- c. Becomes an insolvent under administration within the meaning of the Corporations Law; or
 - d. Resigns office by notice in writing (for example, via email) given to the Secretary; or
 - e. Is removed from office under Clause 22; or
 - f. Becomes a mentally incapacitated person; or
 - g. Is absent without the consent of the Executive Committee from two meetings of the Executive Committee held during a period of twelve months without reasonable grounds and/or is not undertaking their duties.
2. In the event of a casual vacancy occurring for any office of the Academy, the Executive Committee shall as soon as convenient appoint:
- a. An officer of the Academy to that vacated office, whereupon the position from which that officer is appointed shall be deemed to be vacant;
 - b. A member to that vacated office, and such additional member or members as may be required to fill all vacancies in the offices of the Academy.

Any officer appointed to fill a vacancy under the foregoing sub-section shall hold that office only until the succeeding annual general meeting of the Academy.

21. FUNCTIONS OF OFFICE BEARERS

1. The President, Vice-President and other Executive Committee Members will actively promote the objects and purposes of the Academy through leadership, conferences and chairmanship of Academy meetings in regions, chapters and institutions throughout Australian and New Zealand.
2. Secretary
- a. It is the duty of the Secretary with the assistance of an appointed Secretariat to ensure that minutes are taken of:
 - i. All appointments of office bearers and members of the Executive Committee and sub-committees;
 - ii. The names of members of the Executive Committee present at Executive Committee meetings or general meetings; and
 - iii. All proceedings at Executive Committee meetings and general meetings.
 - b. In the absence of a Secretariat, the Secretary shall ensure that minutes of proceedings at a meeting are confirmed and signed in the appropriate manner.
 - c. With the assistance of the Secretariat the Secretary will establish and maintain the Membership Register and other secretarial resources like records, data and email correspondence.
 - d. With the assistance of the Secretariat and the Returning Officer the Secretary will be responsible for the conduct of the Academy's elections.
 - e. The Secretary will fulfil the duties of Public Officer in accordance with the Act unless another person is appointed by the Executive Committee to that position.

3. Treasurer
 - a. It is the duty of the Treasurer of the Academy to ensure:
 - i. That all money due to the Academy is collected and received and that all payments authorised by the Academy are made; and
 - ii. That correct books and accounts are kept showing the financial affairs of the Academy, including full details of all receipts and expenditure connected with the activities of the Academy.
 - b. With the assistance of the Secretariat the Treasurer will establish and maintain appropriate systems at the Secretariat in accordance with Clause 35 of the Constitution.
4. If agreed by the Executive Committee, the positions of Secretary and Treasurer may be simultaneously held by one member of the executive.

22. REMOVAL OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEMBER

1. The appointment of an Executive Committee officer may be terminated on the following grounds:
 - a. The Officer's term on the Executive Committee has ended and they do not seek re-election.
 - b. An Officer may choose to resign. Resignation must be in writing to the Secretary of the President (for example, via email).
 - c. An Officer may be asked to resign from the Executive Committee for not actively working to advance the objectives of the Academy as determined by a majority of Executive Committee members, including but not limited to:
 - i) Being absent for two meetings of the Executive Committee in a twelve-month period without reasonable grounds and/or not undertaking their duties;
 - ii) Engaging in conduct that is injurious or prejudicial to promoting the interests of, or facilitating development and further improvement of, the Academy;
 - iii) Not displaying collegial conduct towards other members of the Executive Committee;
 - iv) Inappropriate behaviour towards another Executive Committee Officer and/or ANZMAC member; and/or
 - v) Inappropriate use of ANZMAC resources.
2. The Academy in general meeting may by resolution remove any member of the Executive Committee from office before the expiration of the member's term of office and may by resolution appoint another person to hold office until the expiration of the term of office of the member so removed.

3. If a member of the Executive Committee, to whom a proposed resolution referred to in Sub-clause (1) relates, makes representations in writing to the Secretary or President (not exceeding one thousand words) and requests that the representations be notified to the members of the Academy, the Secretary or the President may send a copy of the representations to each member of the Academy or, if the representations are not so sent, the member is entitled to require that the representations be read out at the meeting at which the resolution is considered.

23. MEETINGS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

1. The Executive Committee shall meet from time to time at such place and at such times as the Executive Committee may determine but at least one meeting shall be held in each six month period of the calendar year.
2. One half of the members of the Executive Committee from time to time shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of the business of a meeting of the Executive Committee.
3. A meeting of the Executive Committee shall be deemed to have been held where a quorum of members was present in person and/or by tele-conference (provided that a quorum of members were in communication either by person and/or tele-conference for the duration of the meeting).
4. Additional meetings of the Executive Committee may be convened by the President or by any three members of the Executive Committee.
5. Oral or written notice of a meeting of the Executive Committee must be given by the Secretary to each member of the Executive Committee at least seven days (or such other period as may be unanimously agreed on by the members of the Executive Committee) before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting.
6. Notice of a meeting given under Sub-clause (5) must specify the general nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting and no business other than that business is to be transacted at the meeting, except business which the Executive Committee members present at the meeting unanimously agree to treat as urgent business.
7. No business is to be transacted by the Executive Committee unless a quorum is present and if, within half an hour of the time appointed for the meeting, a quorum is not present, the meeting is to stand adjourned to another time.
8. If at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour of the time appointed for the meeting, the meeting is to be dissolved.
9. At a meeting of the Executive Committee:
 - a. The President or, in the President's absence, the Vice-President is to preside; or

- b. If the President and the Vice-President are absent or unwilling to act, such one of the remaining members of the Executive Committee as may be chosen by the members present at the meeting is to preside.

24. VOTING AND DECISIONS: EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

1. Questions arising at a meeting of the Executive Committee or of any subcommittee appointed by the Executive Committee are to be determined by a majority of the votes of members of the Executive Committee or subcommittee present at the meeting in person or by tele-conference communication in accordance with Clause 23 (2).
2. Each member present at a meeting of the Executive Committee or of any subcommittee appointed by the Executive Committee (including the person presiding at the meeting) is entitled to one vote but, in the event of an equality of votes on any question, the person presiding may exercise a second or casting vote.
3. Any act or thing done or suffered, or purporting to have been done or suffered, by the Executive Committee, or by a sub-committee appointed by the Executive Committee, is valid and effectual despite any defect that may afterwards be discovered in the appointment or qualification of any member of the Executive Committee or sub-committee.

Part 4. General Meetings

25. ANNUAL GENERAL MEETINGS

1. The Academy shall, each year, hold an annual general meeting in accordance with the Act.
2. The annual general meeting shall be held on such day, being not later than six months after the close of the financial year of the Academy, and at such place as the Executive Committee may determine.
3. The ordinary business of the annual general meeting shall be:
 - a. To confirm the minutes of the last preceding annual general meeting
 - b. To receive from the Executive Committee reports on the activities of the Academy since the last annual general meeting
 - c. To receive the annual financial statements from the Executive Committee and the auditor's report thereon
 - d. To elect or announce the election of the officers of the Academy
 - e. To appoint the auditor
 - f. To determine any joining fee, annual membership subscription and where appropriate, administration fee

- b. In the event that the President or the Vice-President is not present to chair the annual general meeting as specified in the foregoing sub-section, any member elected by those present at the meeting may be its chairperson.
3. Upon any question arising at an annual general meeting of the Academy:
 - a. A member has one vote only which may be exercised in person or by proxy;
 - b. A majority of voting is required for a matter to pass, except as required for a special resolution under Clause 32;
 - c. In the case of equality of voting on a question, the matter shall be deemed to lapse.
4. For a proxy to be valid for purposes of voting at an Annual General Meeting, it must:
 - a. Be signed by the member granting it;
 - b. Name the member of the Academy authorised to use it and specify the meeting at which it is to be exercised;
 - c. Be registered with the Secretary or the Secretariat at least twenty-four hours before the time notified for the meeting.
5. A proxy form received by the Secretary or Secretariat by facsimile transmission shall be valid for the purposes of voting at an annual general meeting or Special General Meeting provided the proxy complies with the provisions of Clause 28 (4) of the Constitution.
6. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to confer authority to demand or join in demanding a poll.
7. No member shall be entitled to vote at any general meeting unless all money presently payable to the Academy by that member has been paid.

29. GENERAL MEETING PROCEDURES

1. A question arising at any general meeting of the Academy is to be determined on a show of hands and, unless before or on the declaration of the show of hands a poll is demanded, a declaration by the chairperson that a resolution has, on a show of hands, been carried or carried unanimously or carried by a particular majority or lost, is evidence of the fact, without proof, of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against that resolution.
2. At a general meeting of the Academy, a poll may be demanded by the chairperson or by at least three members present in person or by proxy at the meeting.
3. If a poll is demanded at a general meeting, the poll must be taken:

- a. immediately in the case of a poll which relates to the election of the chairperson of the meeting or to the question of an adjournment; or
 - b. in any other case, in such manner and at such time before the close of the meeting as the chairperson directs and the resolution of the poll on the matter is taken to be the resolution of the meeting on that matter.
4. Adjournment
- a. The chairperson of a general meeting at which a quorum is present may, with the consent of the majority of members present at the meeting, adjourn the meeting from time to time and place to place, but no business is to be transacted at an adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the meeting at which the adjournment took place.
 - b. If a general meeting is adjourned for fourteen days or more, the Secretary must give written or oral notice of the adjourned meeting to each member of the Academy stating the place, date and time of the meeting and the nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting.
 - c. Except as provided in Sub-clauses 4(a) and 4(b), notice of an adjournment of a general meeting or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting is not required to be given.

30. CONVENING SPECIAL GENERAL MEETINGS

1. The Executive Committee may, whenever it thinks fit, convene a special general meeting of the Academy.
2. The Executive Committee must, on the requisition in writing of at least five per cent of the total number of members, convene a special general meeting of the Academy.
3. A requisition of members for a special general meeting:
 - a. Must state the purpose or purposes of the meeting; and
 - b. Must be signed by the members making the requisition; and
 - c. Must be lodged with the Secretariat or Secretary; and
 - d. May consist of several documents in a similar form, each signed by one or more of the members making the requisition.
4. If the Executive Committee fails to convene a special general meeting to be held within one month after that date on which the requisition of members for the meeting is lodged with the Secretary, any one or more of the members who made the requisition may convene a special general meeting to be held not later than three months after that date.
5. A special general meeting convened by a member or members as referred in Sub-clause (4) must be convened as nearly as is practicable in the same manner as general meetings are convened by the Executive Committee.

6. No item of business is to be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum of members entitled under these rules to vote is present during the time the meeting is considering that item.
7. Twenty-five members present in person (being members entitled under these rules to vote at a general meeting) shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of the business of a special general meeting.
8. If within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of a special general meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting:
 - a. If convened on the requisition of members, is to be dissolved; and
 - b. In any other case, is to stand adjourned to the same day in the following week at the same time and (unless another place is specified at the time of the adjournment by the person presiding at the meeting or communicated by written notice to members given before the day to which the meeting is adjourned) at the same place.
9. If at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour after the time appointed for the commencement of the meeting, the members present shall constitute a quorum.

31. NOTICE REQUIREMENTS FOR GENERAL MEETINGS

1. Except if the nature of the business proposed to be dealt with at a general meeting requires a special resolution of the Academy, the Secretary must, at least 21 days before the date fixed for the holding of the general meeting, cause to be sent in writing to each member using the contact details appearing in the register of members (such as email addresses), a notice specifying the place, date and time of the meeting and the nature of the business proposed to be transacted at the meeting.
2. If the nature of the business proposed to be dealt with at a general meeting requires a special resolution of the Academy, the Secretary must, at least 21 days before the date fixed for the holding of the general meeting, cause notice to be sent to each member in the manner provided in Sub-clause (1) specifying, in addition to the matter required under Sub-clause (1), the intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution.
3. No business other than that specified in the notice convening a general meeting is to be transacted at the meeting except, in the case of an annual general meeting, business which may be transacted under Clause 25 (3).

4. A member desiring to bring any business before a general meeting may give notice in writing of that business to the Secretary who must include that business in the next notice calling a general meeting given after receipt of the notice from the member.

32. SPECIAL RESOLUTION

1. A resolution of the Academy is a special resolution:
 - a. If it is passed by a majority which comprises at least three-quarters of such members of the Academy as, being entitled under these rules so to do, vote in person or by proxy at a general meeting of which at least twenty-one days' written notice specifying the intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution was given in accordance with these rules; or
 - b. Where it is made to appear to the Administrative Authority under the Act that it is not practicable for the resolution to be passed in the manner specified in Sub-clause 1(a), if the resolution is passed in a manner specified by the Administrative Authority under the Act.

33. VOTING AT SPECIAL GENERAL MEETINGS

1. The general meeting procedures in Clause 29 of the Constitution are to be followed at any special general meeting of the Academy.
2. On any question arising at a special general meeting of the Academy a member has one vote only.
3. All votes shall be exercised personally or by proxy (provided the proxy conforms with the provisions of Clause 28(4) and (5) of the Constitution) but no member may hold more than ten proxies.
4. In the case of an equality of voting on a question, the matter shall be deemed to lapse.
5. If the special general meeting is adjourned the provisions of Clause 29(4) of the Constitution shall apply.

34. PRESIDING MEMBER AT SPECIAL GENERAL MEETINGS

1. The President or, in the President's absence, the Vice-President is to preside as chairperson at each general meeting of the Academy.
2. If the President and the Vice-President are absent or unwilling to act, the members present shall elect one of their members to preside as chairperson at the meeting.

Part 5. Financial Accounting and Auditing

35. KEEPING OF ACCOUNTS

The Treasurer with the assistance of the Secretariat will:

1. Keep such accounting records as correctly record and explain the accounting transactions of the Academy, including any transactions as trustee, and the financial position of the Academy; and
2. Keep accounting records in such a manner as will enable:
 - a. the preparation from time to time of true and fair financial statements of the Academy and
 - b. the financial statements of the Academy to be conveniently and properly audited in accordance with this Constitution.
3. Keep the accounting records at such place or places as the Executive Committee may determine.

36. BANKING AND FINANCE

1. The Treasurer of the Academy shall with the assistance of the Secretariat, receive and account for all moneys paid to the Academy.
2. The Executive Committee shall cause to be opened with such bank or banks as the Executive Committee selects, one or more banking accounts in the name of the Academy, into which all moneys received by the Academy shall be deposited.
3. The Executive Committee may receive from the Academy's bank or bankers for the time being the cheques drawn by the Academy on any of its accounts with the bank or bankers, and may release and indemnify the bank or bankers from and against all claims, actions, suits, or demands that may be brought against the bank or bankers arising directly or indirectly out of those cheques or their surrender thereof to the Academy.
4. Except with the authority of the Executive Committee, no payment shall be made from the funds of the Academy otherwise than by cheque drawn on the Academy's bank account, but the Executive Committee may establish a cash advance to meet minor or urgent expenditure, subject to the observance of such conditions in relation to the use and expenditure thereof as the Executive Committee may impose.

5. **Signatories/Authorisers:** the signatories/authorisers should reflect the current Office Bearers of the Executive Committee (Part 3 of the Constitution, Clause 18) and all signatories/authorisers should have the same approval limits for the Academy's accounts. Endorsement of signatories/authorisers should take place each year upon the establishment of the new Executive Committee following the Annual General Meeting, and that at least two of these office bearers must be based in Australia.
6. **Transaction payment/ transfer limits:** Daily limit on the Academy's accounts are set based on expected bills for all activities and affairs of the Academy, to be transacted by ANZMAC accounts.
7. **Payment approvals:** Two-factor authentication is required in most modern Internet banking processes. Single approval for smaller transactions speeds up banking process. Thereby, the agreed single approvals for transactions apply to the main 'Transaction' account and the 'Conference' account. Two approvers are required for all transactions and all other account amendments in remaining accounts.
8. **Debit Card:** Access to a debit card for the Academy is to be provided to the President and the Treasurer to facilitate some payments on behalf of ANZMAC.

37. ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. The financial year of the Academy shall be the year commencing 1 July or such other period, not in any case being longer than a calendar year, as the Executive Committee may decide.
2. The officers of the Academy shall cause to be made out, in relation to the Academy, statements of revenue and expenditure for the last financial year and of the financial position as at the end of the last financial year, which give a true and fair view respectively of the revenue and expenditure of the Academy for that financial year and of its financial position as at the end of that financial year.
3. The officers of the Academy shall cause to be attached to the statements provided for in the foregoing sub-clause, the auditor's report relating to those statements.
4. The officers of the Academy shall cause to be attached to the statements provided for in Sub-clause (2) of this clause and required to be laid before the annual general meeting of the Academy, a statement, made in accordance with resolution of the Executive Committee and signed by not less than two officers of the Academy stating whether in the opinion of the Executive Committee:

- a. The statement of revenue and expenditure is drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the revenue and expenditure of the Academy for the financial year;
- b. The statement of financial position is drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Academy as at the end of the financial year; and
- c. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Academy will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

38. APPOINTMENT OF AUDITOR

1. At each annual general meeting of the Academy, the members shall appoint a person as the auditor of the Academy.
2. A person so appointed shall hold office until the annual general meeting next after that at which he/she is appointed, and is eligible for reappointment.
3. If, at an annual general meeting, there is no nomination for appointment of an auditor, or if a casual vacancy occurs in the office of auditor during the course of a financial year, the Executive Committee shall appoint an auditor for the then current financial year of the Academy and the person so appointed shall hold office until the next succeeding annual general meeting.

39. AUDIT OF ACCOUNTS

1. The auditor appointed under Clause 38 shall report to members on the financial statements required to be laid before the annual general meeting and on the Academy's accounting and other records relating to those financial statements.
2. The auditor shall in his/her report state:
 - a. Whether, in the opinion of the auditor, the statements of revenue and expenditure and of financial position are properly drawn up so as to give a true and fair view respectively of the revenue and expenditure of the Academy for the financial year to which the statements relate;
 - b. Whether, in the opinion of the auditor, the accounting and other records kept by the Academy have been properly kept;
 - c. Any defect or irregularity found in the financial statements, and any matter not set out in the financial statements without regard to which a true and fair view of the matters dealt with by the financial statements would not be obtained; and
 - d. If the auditor is not satisfied as to any matter referred to in Sub-clause 2(a) and/or (2)(b), the reasons for not being satisfied.

3. The auditor has a right of access at all reasonable times to the accounts and other records of the Academy and is entitled to require from any officer or servant of the Academy such information and explanations as are required for the purposes of the audit.
4. The auditor, or an agent authorised by the auditor in writing for the purpose, is entitled to attend any general meeting of the Academy, to receive notices of any general meeting that a member is entitled to receive, to be heard at any general meeting on any part of the business of the meeting that concerns the auditor as an auditor, and is entitled to be heard notwithstanding that the author retires at that meeting or a resolution to remove the auditor from office is passed at that meeting.

Part 6: Other Provisions

40. AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION

1. The Constitution of the Academy and any part thereof may be amended only by special resolution at a general meeting of which due notice has been given in accordance with Clauses 26, 27 and 32 of this Constitution.
2. The Executive Committee is responsible for initiating regular review and confirmation or updating, as deemed necessary, of the Constitution every five calendar years.

41. SERVICE OF NOTICES

1. For the purpose of expedition, a notice may be served by or on behalf of the Academy on any member either personally or by sending it by post, facsimile or electronic means to the member at the member's address.
2. If a document is sent to a person by properly addressing, prepaying and posting to the person a letter containing the document, the document is, unless the contrary is proved, taken for the purposes of these rules to have been served on the person at the time at which the letter would have been delivered in the ordinary course of post. If a document is sent by facsimile or electronic means, it is taken as being served twenty-four hours after the time of sending, unless the sender receives notification through the normal operations of the technology that the message failed to transmit properly.
3. The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to, or the non-receipt of notice of a meeting by, any person entitled to receive notice shall not invalidate the proceedings at that meeting.

42. TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS

Notwithstanding anything expressed herein before to the contrary, the following transitional provisions shall take effect from the date of incorporation of the Academy and shall cease to be of any effect from the close of the first annual general meeting of the Academy:

1. All those people who paid the membership fee included in the charge for the ANZMAC Otago Conference in 1998 will comprise the first members of the Academy with membership from the date of the conference to 31 December 1999, Clause 10 (9) notwithstanding.
2. The Executive at the time of incorporation will be the first Executive.

DISSOLUTION CLAUSE

In the event of the organisation being dissolved, the amount which remains after such dissolution and the satisfaction of all debts and liabilities shall be paid and applied by the organisation in accordance with its powers to any organisation which has similar objects and which has rules prohibiting the distribution of its assets and income to its members.